No. 2007-CA-01299

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JERRY WAYNE DUCKWORTH

Appellant,

-v-

BART WALKER and THE STATE OF ALABAMA,

Appellees.

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Monroe County (CV-04-062-AM)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Charles R. Waits, III Attorney for Appellant 809 6th Avenue SE Decatur, Alabama 35601 (256) 301-5454 (telephone) (256) 350-1771 (facsimile) MS Bar No

B. Kelly Hardwick Attorney for Appellant 120 N. Congress Street, Suite 904 Jackson, MS 39201 (601) 974-6075 (telephone) (601) 974-6076 (facsimile) MS Bar No.

2-Jun-08

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JERRY WAYNE DUCKWORTH

APPELLANT

v.

SUPREME COURT # 2007-CA-01299

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendants', Alabama State Trooper Bart Walker and the State of Alabama's Motion for Reconsideration of their Original Summary Judgment Motion when: 1) an affidavit from Plaintiff's pursuit expert, Dennis Waller, was part of the record for the trial court to consider; 2) when Plaintiff's expert stated in his affidavit (and provided the grounds for his opinion) that Defendant Trooper Bart Walker was reckless in his pursuit of a suspect from Alabama into Mississippi; 3) and when the Mississippi Supreme Court, in <u>City of Jackson v. Brister</u>, 838 So. 2d 274 (Miss. 2003), addressed and gave substantial weight to the findings of police pursuit expert, Dennis Waller, regarding the recklessness of City of Jackson police officers while conducting a police pursuit.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendants Bart Walker and the State of Alabama's Motion for Reconsideration of their Original Summary Judgment Motion when there were genuine issues of material fact supported by the record regarding: 1) the length of the subject police pursuit; 2) characteristics of Vernon Road where the pursuit occurred; 3) the seriousness of the offense(s) for which Defendant Trooper Walker was pursuing the suspect; 4) whether Defendant Trooper Walker had available alternatives to apprehend the suspect other than pursuit; and 5) the existence of police pursuit policy which prohibited the subject pursuit under the circumstances.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendants' Bart Walker and the

State of Alabama's Motion for Reconsideration of their Original Summary Judgment Motion when: 1) the trial court had previously denied the Alabama Defendants' Original Motion for Summary Judgment and found that there were genuine issues of material fact which necessitated a trial, and 2) when there was no new evidence (which justified granting summary judgment) presented on the record between the time of the trial Court's denial of the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and the time of the trial court's inexplicable grant of the Alabama Defendants' renewed Motion for Reconsideration of Their Original Summary Judgment Motion.

t

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 12, 2004, Plaintiff, Jerry Wayne Duckworth, filed his original complaint in the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi seeking relief for damages he received as a result of a car collision and subsequent ambulance accident, both of which occurred on or about February 12, 2002. (Excerpts, pgs. 25-43; Record, pgs. 22-40)¹. Plaintiff sued various Defendants who are listed as follows: 1) David Carrol Warren; 2) Alabama State Trooper Bart Walker; 3) the State of Alabama; 4) ambulance driver Ray Stockman; and 5) Emergystat, Inc. (Excerpts, pg. 25; Record, pg. 22). Plaintiff brought suit against the above Defendants alleging that their recklessness and/or negligence caused Plaintiff's injuries and damages. (Excerpts, pgs. 25-43; Record, pgs. 22-40).

¹Where appropriate, references are made both to the Record Excerpts filed with Plaintiff/Appellant's Brief and to the Record itself. References to the Record Excerpts shall be designated "Excerpts, pg. ___". References to the Record shall be designated "Record, pg. ___". References to the Videotape, which is part of the Record, shall be designated "Videotape". References to the Court Reporters' Transcripts will be designated either "Court Reporter's Transcript (Kimberly Bounds) pg. __" or "Court Reporter's Transcript (Melanie Owen) pg. __".

On May 20, 2005, Defendants Bart Walker and the State of Alabama (hereafter also referred to collectively as "the Alabama Defendants") filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. (Excerpts, pgs. 44-67; Record, pgs. 83-125). On June 16, 2006, a hearing was conducted before the trial court on Defendants Bart Walker and the State of Alabama's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Court Reporter's Transcript (Kimberly Bounds) pgs. 1-31). On October 30, 2006, the trial court denied the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment citing that there were genuine issues of material fact which had to be submitted to the trier of fact. (Excerpts, pgs. 19-24; Record, pgs. 462-467). On November 6, 2006, the trial court set the instant case for trial on July 16, 2007. (Excerpts, pgs. 68-69; Record, pgs. On June 15, 2007, the Alabama Defendants filed their Motion for 472-473). Reconsideration of their Motion for Summary Judgment. (Excerpts, pgs. 70-83; Record, pgs. 662-675). On June 26, 2007, Plaintiff filed his Response to the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of Their Motion for Summary Judgment. (Record, pgs. 704-746). On July 2, 2007, a hearing was had before the trial court on the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of their Motion for Summary Judgment. (Court Reporter's Transcript (Melanie Owen) pgs. 72-119). On July 5, 2007, the trial court erroneously granted the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of their Motion for Summary Judgment. (Excerpts, pgs. 11-18; Record, pgs. 791-798). Finally, on July 26, 2007, Plaintiff filed his Notice of Appeal. (Excerpts, pgs. 84-92; Record, pgs. 801-809).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about February 12, 2002, Defendant Alabama State Trooper Bart Walker initiated a vehicular pursuit of a suspect (David Carrol Warren) in Lamar County, Alabama. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-55; Record, pgs. 90-94). Defendant Trooper Walker initiated the pursuit because the suspect had a broken windshield, because passengers were not wearing their seatbelts, and because the suspect attempted to elude Defendant Walker. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-55; Record, pgs. 90-94). Defendant Trooper Walker pursued the suspect from Alabama into Monroe County, Mississippi on Vernon Road. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-55; Record, pgs. 90-94). After the pursuit traveled a considerable distance into Mississippi, the suspect's vehicle collided nearly head-on with Plaintiff's vehicle. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-55; Record, pgs. 90-94; Videotape). Plaintiff's vehicle was knocked off the road by the impact and Plaintiff was trapped inside his vehicle. (Excerpts, pg. 114; Videotape). Plaintiff received various broken bones, dislocations, lacerations and other injuries from the collision. (Excerpts, pgs. 28-29; Record, pgs. 25-26). Upon being freed from his vehicle, Plaintiff was loaded into an Emergystat, Inc. ambulance for medical transport. (Excerpts, pgs. 28-29; Record, pgs. 25-26). The ambulance then had a minor accident. (Excerpts, pgs. 28-29; Record, pgs. 25-26).

The above-mentioned police pursuit lasted six minutes and twenty-three seconds and covered nearly six and one-half miles. (Excerpt, pgs. 51-54; Videotape). Defendant Trooper Walker came upon the collision site seconds after the collision occurred. (Videotape). Defendant Trooper Walker was not able to witness the collision because it happened at a

curvy, hilly area on Vernon Road. (Excerpts, pg. 52; Record, pg. 91; Videotape). The stretch of Vernon Road in Mississippi where the subject pursuit occurred was poorly paved and the road surface was in a state of disrepair. (Excerpts, pgs. 102-104; Record, pgs. 234-236; Videotape). Upon entering Mississippi, Defendant Trooper Walker's video camera was shaken severely because of the condition of the road surface. (Videotape). Furthermore, on the stretch of Vernon Road where the pursuit occurred in Mississippi, there were several substantial curves and hills which made driving at increased speeds dangerous. (Excerpts, pgs. 95-101; Record, pgs. 452-458; Videotape). Also, there were many blind spots along the pursuit route, and Defendant Trooper Walker lost sight of the suspect briefly during various stages of the pursuit because of the blind spots on the road. (Videotape). During the pursuit, Defendant Trooper Walker was able to obtain the suspect's license plate number. (Excerpts, pg. 105; Record, pg. 334). Defendant Trooper Walker encountered nine cars other than the suspect's vehicle during the pursuit. (Videotape). At the time of the pursuit, State of Alabama pursuit policy was in place which prohibited Defendant Trooper Walker's pursuit of a suspect into Mississippi. (Excerpts, pgs. 57-59; Record, pgs. 96-98). Though Defendant Trooper Walker radioed to the appropriate authorities that he was entering Mississippi, Defendant Trooper Walker still violated State of Alabama pursuit policy because circumstances did not warrant that he cross state lines. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-59; Record, pgs. 90-98). Lastly, the speed limit on Vernon Road was forty-five (45) miles per hour and the instant pursuit's average speed was around sixty (60) mph. (Excerpts, pgs. 54, 117; Record, 93, 389). Furthermore, Defendant Trooper Walker did not maintain a safe following distance at all times during the pursuit. (Videotape).

÷

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For summary judgment to be granted, there can be no genuine issues of material fact. Johnson v. City of Cleveland, 846 So.2d 1031, 1034-1035 (Miss. 2003). In the instant case, the trial court granted the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of Their Summary Judgment Motion in the face of overwhelming evidence on the record which showed that there were genuine issues of material fact which necessitated a trial.

The affidavit of Plaintiff's police pursuit expert, Dennis Waller, was filed and made part of the record long before the trial court granted the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of Their Summary Judgment Motion. (Excerpts, pgs. 93-101; Record, pgs. 450-458). Dennis Waller gave his expert opinion that Defendant Alabama State Trooper Bart Walker was reckless in his pursuit of a suspect from Alabama into Mississippi for the offenses of a broken windshield and passengers not wearing their seatbelts. (Excerpts, pgs. 95-101; Record, pgs. 452-458).

Prior to submitting his opinion in the instant case, Dennis Waller was mentioned by the Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>City_of Jackson v. Brister</u>, 838 So.2d at 279. The Mississippi Supreme Court addressed Waller's opinions and placed great importance on them in affirming a trial court's judgment finding that City of Jackson police officers had conducted a pursuit in reckless disregard for the safety of the public. <u>Id</u>. Since this Court favorably viewed Waller's opinions in *Brister*, it was error for the trial court to ignore Waller's opinions in the instant case and conclude that there were no genuine issues of material fact. Waller's opinion clearly shows that there were genuine issues of material fact which should be submitted to a jury.

In deciding whether a police pursuit was accomplished in reckless disregard of the safety of the public, a Mississippi court must consider the following factors: 1) the length of the chase; 2) the type of neighborhood; 3) characteristics of the streets; 4) the presence of vehicular or pedestrian traffic; 5) weather conditions and visibility; 6) the seriousness of the offense for which the police are pursuing the suspect; 7) whether the officer proceeded with sirens and blue lights; 8) whether the officer had available alternatives which would lead to the apprehension of the suspect besides pursuit; 9) the existence of police policy which prohibits pursuit under the circumstances; and 10) the rate of speed of the officer in comparison to the posted speed limit. Johnson v. City of Cleveland, 846 So.2d at 1039; City of Ellisville v. Richardson, 913 So.2d 973, 977 (Miss. 2005). If there are disputes as to any of the above factors, or if the factors are undisputed but susceptible to more than one interpretation, then a genuine issue of material fact exists and summary judgment must be denied. Johnson v. City of Cleveland, 846 So.2d at 1036 (quoting Canizaro v. Mobile Comms. Corp of Am., 655 So. 2d 25, 28 (Miss.1995).

Though Plaintiff and the Alabama Defendants agree as to the length and duration of the subject pursuit, Plaintiff contends that a pursuit which covered more than six miles and lasted more than six minutes is too lengthy. (Excerpts, pgs. 97-101; Record, pgs. 454-458). Defendants contend otherwise. (Excerpts, pg. 71; Record, pg. 663). In addition, Plaintiff contends that the road conditions of Vernon Road were poor for conducting a police pursuit. (Videotape). Again, the Defendants disagree. (Excerpts, pg. 71; Record, pg. 663). The road conditions are shown by the police pursuit videotape taken by Defendant Trooper Walker during the instant pursuit. (Videotape). The videotape of the pursuit clearly shows curves, hills and other road conditions on Vernon Road which made the pursuit very hazardous, particularly in light of offenses for which trooper pursued the suspect. (Videotape).

Defendant Trooper Walker pursued the suspect for a broken windshield and passengers not wearing their seatbelts. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-52; Record, pgs. 90-91). In addition, the Alabama Defendants also cite attempting to elude as a reason for the pursuit. (Excerpts, pgs. 52; Record, pg. 91). First of all, attempting to elude is an offense in every pursuit case. If the offense of attempting to elude is enough to justify a pursuit, then all pursuits would be proper. The Alabama Defendants state that a broken windshield and passengers not wearing their seatbelts are primary offenses and, thereby, serious offenses. (Excerpts, pgs. 51-52; Record, pgs. 90-91). That conclusion is ludicrous. The offenses of a broken windshield and passengers not wearing their seatbelts are not serious offenses which warranted Defendant Alabama State Trooper Bart Walker crossing into Mississippi and risking the lives of Mississippi drivers. (See, City of Jackson v. Brister, 838 So.2d at 280-281; City of Ellisville v. Richardson, 913 So.2d at 978-979. The Alabama Defendants' also contend that Defendant Trooper Walker did not know what other offenses the suspect might have committed. (Excerpts, pg 73; Record, pg.665). In granting the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of Their Summary Judgment Motion, the trial court relied heavily on the argument of unknown offenses committed by the suspect. (Excerpts, pgs. 16-17; Record, pgs. 796-797). The trial court erroneously relied on the argument of unknown offenses in ruling that there were no issues of fact with regard to the factor of the seriousness

of the offense for which the police are pursuing the suspect. In every pursuit case, it can always be argued that the suspect might have committed additional offenses which are unknown to the pursuing officer. If this argument were valid, then the factor of seriousness of the offense for which police are pursuing the suspect becomes a non-factor because it can always be argued that the suspect could be guilty of some unknown serious offense.

Defendant Trooper Walker obtained the license plate number of the suspect. (Excerpts, pg. 105; Record, pg.334). Plaintiff argues that such license plate number provided an available alternative to apprehend the suspect other than the pursuit. (Excerpts, pg. 100; Record, pg. 457). The Alabama Defendants contend otherwise. (Excerpts, pg. 73; Record pg. 665). Whether having a license plate number is enough to provide an alternative to pursuit is a fact issue. The Mississippi Supreme Court, in <u>City of Jackson v. Brister</u>, assigned importance to the fact that officers could have obtained a license plate number but did not. 838 So.2d at 280. Thus, Plaintiff reasonably concludes that because Defendant Trooper Walker obtained the suspect's license plate number, a material issue of fact exists as to whether having such license plate number provided an alternative to apprehend the suspect other than pursuit.

Also, Plaintiff contends that Defendant Trooper Walker's pursuit into Mississippi violated State of Alabama pursuit policy. (Excerpt, pgs. 57-59; Record, pgs. 96-98). State of Alabama pursuit policy states that, "Normally, pursuits into another state should be avoided", and the policy also directs that state lines can be crossed only if circumstances warrant such a crossing. (Excerpts, pg. 58; Record, pg. 97). This language at least creates an issue of fact as to whether the offenses of a broken windshield and passengers failing to

wear seatbelts are circumstances which warranted Defendant Trooper Walker continuing his pursuit of the suspect into Mississippi outside of his jurisdiction.

Originally, the trial court denied the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and found that there were numerous genuine issues of material fact which had to be submitted to the trier of fact. (Excerpts, pgs. 19-24; Record, pgs. 462-467). No new evidence came to light between the time of the trial court's denial of summary judgment and its subsequent grant of the Alabama Defendants' renewed summary judgment motion which justified the grant of summary judgment. (See, Record, 468-857). Because it originally found genuine issues of material fact, the trial court erred in granting the renewed summary judgment request of the Alabama Defendants.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review and Law Regarding Summary Judgment

For summary judgment to be granted, no genuine issues of material fact may exist, and the moving party must be entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Johnson v. City of Cleveland, 846 So. 2d 1031, 1034-1035 (Miss. 2003). The Mississippi Supreme Court reviews de novo the grant of summary judgment by the trial court. Id. at 1035. The trial court "must carefully review all evidentiary matters before it; admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc., in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion for summary judgment is made." Id. at 1035. Further, summary judgment is "inappropriate where there are undisputed facts which are susceptible to more than one interpretation." Id. at 1036 (quoting Canizaro v. Mobile Comms, Corp of Am., 655 So. 2d 25, 28 (Miss. 1995). In addition, this Court has stated, "And should it determine that the undisputed facts can support more than one interpretation, the Court will not hesitate to reverse and remand for a trial on the merits." Id. at 1036. The evidence which was before the trial court in the instant action at the time the trial court granted summary judgment included the following: 1) Deposition of Defendant Bart Walker; 2) State of Alabama Pursuit Policy; 3) Affidavit of Plaintiff's expert Dennis Waller; 4) Affidavit of Arvel Grimes; 5) Videotape of the subject pursuit and the Interrogatory Responses of Defendant Bart Walker. (Excerpts, pgs. 57-59, 93-104, 106-121; Record, pgs. 237-420, 96-98, 450-458, 234-236, 378-393; Videotape).

<u>Factors to Consider in Determining Whether a Police Pursuit</u> Was Accomplished in Reckless Disregard of the Safety of the Public

For police pursuit cases in Mississippi, the Mississippi Supreme Court has set forth ten factors to be considered in determining whether a police pursuit was accomplished in reckless disregard of the safety and well-being of the public. The factors are listed as follows: 1) the length of the chase; 2) the type of neighborhood; 3) characteristics of the streets; 4) the presence of vehicular or pedestrian traffic; 5) weather conditions and visibility; 6) the seriousness of the offense for which the police are pursuing the suspect; 7) whether the officer proceeded with sirens and blue lights; 8) whether the officer had available alternatives which would lead to the apprehension of the suspect besides pursuit; 9) the existence of police policy which prohibits pursuit under the circumstances; and 10) the rate of speed of the officer in comparison to the posted speed limit. <u>City of Ellisville v.</u> <u>Richardson</u>, 913 So.2d at 977; <u>Johnson v. City of Cleveland</u>, 846 So.2d at 1037. Furthermore, this Court has stated, "It is appropriate for trial courts to consider all ten factors, and to look at the totality of the circumstances when analyzing whether someone acted in reckless disregard. <u>City of Ellisville v. Richardson</u>, 913 So.2d at 978.

Issue 1: Conclusions and Opinions of Plaintiff's Pursuit Expert, Dennis Waller

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