---

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

---

**JERRY WAYNE DUCKWORTH**

**APPELLANT**

**VERSUS**

**NO. 2007-CA-01299**

**STATE OF ALABAMA AND  
BART WALKER**

**APPELLEES**

---

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi  
(CV-04-062-AM)

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEES THE STATE OF ALABAMA AND BART WALKER**

---

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

Attorney for Appellees  
James T. Metz  
MS Bar [REDACTED]  
Deputy Attorney General  
State of Alabama

Betty Ruth Fox  
MS Bar [REDACTED]

PURDIE & METZ, PLLC  
Attorneys at Law  
Post Office Box 2659  
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158  
Telephone: 601-957-1596

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

### A. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The most astonishing aspect of Plaintiff/Duckworth's Brief is his failure to cite, even once, the recent decision of the United States Supreme Court in Scott v. Harris, \_\_\_ U. S. \_\_\_, 127 S.Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d 686 (2007), the case upon which the trial court heavily relied in granting summary judgment in favor of the Alabama Defendants. Citing Scott v. Harris, the trial court wrote "in this case, the Court had the rare opportunity to view a video of the pursuit. It is fair to say that the video was very helpful, and the Court assigned it great weight because the Court was able to actually visualize the pursuit as it was taking place." (T.R. Vol. 6, p 798, R.E. 18) The Alabama Defendants can only surmise that Plaintiff/Duckworth's failure to mention Scott is part of his strategy of avoidance. In other words, he would rather respond to what the Alabama Defendants have to say about Scott v. Harris instead of addressing it head on. The only problem with that approach is that Plaintiff/Duckworth is the Appellant. In that capacity, one would expect that he would distinguish, not avoid, the cases cited by the trial court in support of summary judgment.

As we understand it, Plaintiff /Duckworth argues that summary judgment should be reversed since the decision of the trial judge, who reviewed the evidence and uncontradicted video in this case and applied her knowledge of Mississippi law, is contrary to the testimony of Plaintiff's expert, Dennis Waller, from Waukesha County, Wisconsin, who apparently reviewed the evidence and applied his knowledge of Mississippi law. Plaintiff further argues that this Court should accept Mr. Waller's opinion over the trial judge's opinion since Mr. Waller's name has been mentioned in a prior decision of the Mississippi Supreme Court involving a police pursuit which, in Mr. Waller's opinion, was reckless. What Plaintiff did not do is verify the

accuracy of the facts Mr. Waller cites as support for his opinion in this case. The Alabama Defendants submit that inaccurate facts severely compromise the integrity of any expert's opinion, even Mr. Waller's.

Plaintiff/Duckworth also argues that summary judgment should be reversed based on the existence of genuine issues of material fact. He argues that an analysis of the ten factors outlined by the Mississippi Supreme Court proves that the pursuit was conducted with reckless disregard. He further argues that since no new evidence was presented to the trial court between the time it entered its original order denying summary judgment and the time it entered its opinion and order granting summary judgment warrants reversal of summary judgment. As stated previously, Plaintiff failed to advise the Court of Scott v. Harris. The significance of Scott to the trial court in the analysis of the ten factors cannot be disputed. The trial court wrote, "[t]he video establishes facts that have not been disputed with evidence supported by the record, and therefore, summary judgment is appropriate." (T.R. Vol. 6; p. 798; R.E.18) The Alabama Defendants urge this Court to affirm the trial court's summary judgment in their favor.

Finally, Plaintiff/Duckworth attempts to compare the facts of this case with three police pursuit cases cited in support of his brief. The facts of each are easily distinguished. In City of Jackson v. Brister, 838 So. 2d 274 (Miss. 2003), this Court found reckless disregard primarily based on the fact that the officers violated department policy by initiating the chase "without knowing that the suspect had committed a felony." Id. at 281. The **pursuit in Brister** proceeded **through the City of Jackson in a heavily populated residential area** at very high speeds. Id. at 280 - 281. Contrast the case sub judice, in which the pursuit proceeded along rural sparsely populated country roads with very little vehicular and no pedestrian traffic at an average speed less than 60 miles per hour. (T.R. Vol.1, pp. 91-93; R.E. 52-54; Videotape). Furthermore,

Trooper Walker complied with the State of Alabama Pursuit Policy as he entered into Mississippi by notifying the proper authorities. (T.R. Vol. 1; p.92; R.E. 53). Plaintiff also cites Johnson v. City of Cleveland in which the pursuit proceeded through a residential neighborhood **at night** with vehicular and pedestrian traffic present. The officer **did not have his siren on and it was disputed whether his blue lights were flashing when the officer hit a pedestrian**. In contrast, in the instant case, the pursuit proceeded along rural sparsely populated country roads with very little vehicular and no pedestrian traffic on a clear day with good visibility at approximately 5:00 p.m. in the afternoon. (T.R. Vol.1, pp. 91-93; R.E. 52-54; Videotape). Trooper Walker had his siren and lights engaged during the entire pursuit. (T.R. Vol. 1, p. 92; R.E. 53; Videotape) Also, Trooper Walker's vehicle was not involved in the accident. (Videotape). Finally, Plaintiff cites City of Ellisville v. Richardson, 913 So. 2d 973 (Miss. 2005) in which the **pursuit occurred at night** in a residential neighborhood **and the officer knew the suspect he was pursuing** and knew that the suspect was prone to flee. The officer in Richardson continued the pursuit despite the fact that the suspect had run oncoming traffic off of the road and passed six vehicles in a distance of less than one mile. The Court also noted the officer was proceeding in violation of the City of Ellisville's Pursuit of Motor Vehicle Policy. The facts of the instant case are easily distinguished from Richardson, also. Alabama Trooper Bart Walker engaged in a pursuit along rural sparsely populated country roads with very little vehicular and no pedestrian traffic on a clear day with good visibility at approximately 5:00 p.m. in the afternoon. (T.R. Vol.1, pp. 91-93; R.E. 52-54; Videotape). Trooper Walker pursued the suspect at an average speed of 55 to 60 miles per hour (45 mile per hour speed limit) with his siren and lights engaged. (T.R. Vol. 1, pp. 92-93 and 123; R.E. 53-54 and 65; Videotape). Neither Trooper Walker nor the suspect ran any vehicle off the road nor passed any vehicle during the entire six and one-half mile pursuit.

(Videotape). Although Trooper Walker obtained the license plate number of the suspect vehicle, he did not know the suspect driver and did not know who owned the vehicle. (T.R. Vol. 3, p. 340, 342-343 and 346). Finally, Trooper Walker complied with the State of Alabama Pursuit Policy as he entered into Mississippi by notifying the proper authorities. ( T.R. Vol.1, p. 92 ;R.E. 53).

The Alabama Defendants have sympathy for Plaintiff and the fact that he sustained serious injuries in the accident. Despite that fact, the culprit in this case is not Trooper Walker or the State of Alabama, but David Carrol Warren, the suspect whose vehicle collided with the Plaintiff's. (Videotape).

After comparing the facts in this case to other pursuit cases, the Alabama Defendants submit that one should expect applause, not attacks, for a pursuit like the one in the instant case — in which a trooper follows a suspect on a clear day, along a rural sparsely populated route with very little vehicular and no pedestrian traffic, at a safe distance, avoiding high speeds, in compliance with the pursuit policy. (T.R. Vol. 1, pp. 90-93; R.E. 51-54). The Alabama Defendants submit that if the facts of this case do not exhibit a proper pursuit, then no pursuit can ever be determined to be appropriate. That being said, there simply is no genuine issue of material fact in this case and summary judgment should be affirmed.

## **B. ARGUMENT**

### **1. Issue 1: The Decision of the Trial Court Granting the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment Should be Affirmed Despite the Affidavit of Dennis Waller, Plaintiff's Expert**

Plaintiff/Duckworth argues that since the expert he retained has been mentioned in a previous Mississippi Supreme Court case, his opinion should be given great weight. First of all, although Mr. Waller was mentioned in City of Jackson v. Brister, 838 So. 2d 274 (Miss. 2003), the Court certainly did not base its decision on his opinion. Secondly, the Mississippi Supreme Court has previously stated that “an expert’s opinion is ordinarily merely advisory and not binding upon the court.” Davidson v. Rogers, 431 So. 2d 483, 485 (Miss. 1983). In any event, it is fundamental that an expert’s opinion is only as reliable as the facts upon which that opinion is based. If the expert relies on erroneous facts, the integrity of the expert’s opinion is compromised. Consider the following: Mr. Waller states as a fact that the suspect drove at speeds well in excess of 60 miles per hour. (T.R. Vol.4, p. 454; R.E. 97). It is undisputed that the pursuit covered 6.5 miles and lasted 6 minutes (T.R. Vol.4, p. 454; R.E. 97). This yields an average speed of 55.38 miles per hour  $((6 \div 6.5) * 60)$ . There is no evidence in the record which supports Mr. Waller’s opinion that the suspect drove at speeds well in excess of 60 miles per hour.

Mr. Waller states that “[t]ermination of the pursuit would have terminated the reckless behavior of the driver of the Toyota.” (T.R. Vol. 4, p. 455; R.E. 98). The United States Supreme Court has stated that this assumption is erroneous: “[w]hereas Scott’s action—ramming respondent off the road—was *certain* to eliminate the risk that respondent posed to the public, ceasing pursuit was not. First of all, there would have been no way to convey convincingly to respondent that the chase was off, and that he was free to go. Had respondent looked in his rear-

view mirror and seen the police cars deactivate their flashing lights and turn around, he would have had no idea whether they were truly letting him get away, or simply devising a new strategy for capture. . . . Given such uncertainty, respondent might have been just as likely to respond by continuing to drive recklessly as by slowing down and wiping his brow.” Scott v. Harris, 127 S. Ct. 1769, 1778-79 (2007).

Mr. Waller’s opinion states that the pursuit was initiated for the offenses of a broken windshield and occupants not wearing safety belts. (T.R. Vol. 4, p. 455; R.E. 98) Mr. Waller’s opinion fails to mention the most significant offense of “attempting to elude” which actually initiated the pursuit and is clearly depicted on the video. (T.R. Vol. 1 , p. 91; R.E. 52 ; Videotape). In addressing a similar element in Scott v. Harris, the United States Supreme Court stated that “[r]espondent did not pose . . . [an] inherent threat to society, since (prior to the car chase) he had committed only a minor traffic offense and, as far as the police were aware, had no prior criminal record. But in this case, unlike in Garner, it was respondent’s flight itself (by means of a speeding automobile) that posed the threat of “serious physical harm . . . to others.” 127 S. Ct. at 1777 n.9.

Directly on point is the testimony of Bart Walker in response to a question posed by counsel for Emergystat which confirms that in Bart Walker’s mind, Warren’s flight with two women in his vehicle posed a threat of serious physical harm to other(s). Trooper Walker testified:

Q. Corporal Walker, my name is Teresa Harvey. I represent Emergystat and Ray Stockman in this case. I just have a few questions for you. Can you tell me your observations, at the scene of the accident of Mr. Duckworth and Mr. Warren, what you first observed when you came on the scene?

A. Mr. Duckworth was trapped in his vehicle. After I secured Warren – I had to secure him first, because I didn’t know what – why he was running, why I was having to pursue him, whether he committed murder, raped, or kidnaped. I didn’t

know. So I got him secured first, because his vehicle was on fire. And that's where my hands were burned. . . .

(T. R. Vol. 3, pp. 366-367; R.E. 82-83).

Mr. Waller's opinion states as a fact that Trooper Walker was not familiar with Vernon Road in Mississippi. (T.R.Vol. 4, p. 456; R.E. 99) Again, Mr. Waller assumes and bases his opinion on erroneous facts. Trooper Walker testified that he had traveled on the roads in Mississippi on which he was pursuing Mr. Warren. He testified that he had traveled such roads all the way to Wolf Road. (T.R. Vol. 3; p. 343).

Mr. Waller cites as support for his opinion that logging trucks use the roadway frequently and that a small community exists a short distance beyond the site of the collision. (T.R.Vol. 4, pp. 456; R.E. 99). Neither of these facts is relevant to this case. No logging trucks were encountered during the pursuit. (Videotape). The pursuit route did not encounter the community to which Mr. Waller makes reference. (Videotape).

Finally, Mr. Waller's opinions regarding the Alabama Pursuit Policy are based on erroneous facts. The section of Mr. Waller's opinion which discusses the policy repeats no less than five times that "*Mr. Warren was pursued because the occupants were not wearing seat belts and the vehicle had a cracked windshield.*" (T.R.Vol. 4, pp. 456-457; R.E. 99-100). As stated previously, this is not correct. The most significant offense which is clearly depicted on the video is the offense of "attempting to elude" which actually initiated the pursuit. (T.R. Vol. 1 , p. 91; R.E. 52; Videotape).

The Alabama Defendants urge this Court to affirm the trial judge's decision granting summary judgment in their favor.

**2. Issues 2 and 3: Consideration of the Mississippi Supreme Court's  
Ten Factor Analysis in Light of the Video and Scott v. Harris Confirms  
Summary Judgment in Favor of the Alabama Defendants**

Plaintiff/Duckworth argues that the trial court's grant of summary judgment should be reversed since no new evidence was presented to the trial court between the time the court entered its order denying the appellees' original motion for summary judgment and the time the court entered its opinion and order granting summary judgment based on the Alabama Defendants' motion for reconsideration. What Plaintiff failed to mention to the Court is that on April 30, 2007, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in Scott v. Harris which held that when a police pursuit is captured on an unchallenged videotape, the Court should view "the facts in the light depicted by the videotape." 127 S. Ct. at 1776. Citing Scott v. Harris, the trial court wrote "in this case, the Court had the rare opportunity to view a video of the pursuit. It is fair to say that the video was very helpful, and the Court assigned it great weight because the Court was able to actually visualize the pursuit as it was taking place." (T.R. Vol. 1, p.798; R.E. 18). The Supreme Court in Scott further instructed that "[w]hen opposing parties tell two different stories, one of which is blatantly contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, a court should not adopt that version of the facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary judgment." 127 S. Ct. at 1776. Based on the decision of Scott v. Harris, the trial court reviewed the videotape in light of the ten factor analysis and properly entered summary judgment for Appellees. The undisputed facts of this case revealed in the video, as a matter of law, prove that Trooper Walker did not breach his duty to act in a reasonably prudent manner during the pursuit at issue herein. The Alabama Defendants urge this Court to affirm the trial court's summary judgment in their favor.

As previously mentioned, the Mississippi Supreme Court has set forth ten factors to be considered in determining whether a police pursuit proceeded with reckless disregard. See McCoy v. City of Florence, 949 So. 2d 69 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). A discussion of these factors in light of the undisputed facts in this case *as documented by the video* and in light of the guidance of Scott v. Harris follows:

(1) the length of the chase;

The entire instant pursuit along Aberdeen/Vernon Road from Lamar County, Alabama, and into Monroe County, Mississippi from the beginning of the pursuit of Defendant Warren until his collision with Plaintiff lasted only approximately six (6) minutes, from approximately 4:55 p.m. until approximately 5:02 p.m. as documented by the video. The Order Denying the Alabama Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment dated October 30, 2006, ("Order") found as an undisputed fact that "[t]he instant pursuit lasted almost six and one half minutes and covered approximately six miles."  
(T.R. Vol. 4, p. 465; R.E.22; Videotape)

(2) type of neighborhood;

There existed no houses or dwellings along the stretch of Vernon Road where the instant accident took place as documented by the video. The video further documents that very few structures exist along the entire stretch of the pursuit.

(T.R. Vol. 1; p. 91; R.E. 52; Videotape)

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